

Evidence Summary for Policy The role of arts in improving health & wellbeing

Report to the Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport April 2020



Contents

Executive summary	3
Background	3
Aims	3
Summary of findings	3
Methods	4
Searches	4
Definitions	4
Quality assessment	4
Arts engagement and health outcomes	5
Social outcomes	5
Youth development	7
Prevention of mental and physical ill health	10
Arts in social prescribing and health outcomes	13
Arts-based social prescribing and social outcomes	14
Social prescribing and youth development	15
Social prescribing and prevention of mental and physical ill health	15
Economic evaluations	16
Research Recommendations	17
APPENDIX 2: Modified FORM Grading Tables	18
Body of evidence matrix	18
Definition of grades of recommendation	18
APPENDIX 3: References	19

Executive summary

Background

This evidence summary has been commissioned by DCMS in response to the World Health Organisation report published in November 2019 entitled "What is the evidence on the role of the arts in improving health and wellbeing?" (1). This report synthesised the findings from over 3,500 studies on the role of the arts in the prevention of ill health, promotion of health, and management and treatment of illness across the lifespan. The reviewed evidence included study designs such as randomized controlled studies, nationally-representative longitudinal cohort studies, community-wide ethnographies, cross-sectional surveys, laboratory experiments, and case studies. The WHO report also made a series of policy suggestions to countries globally. However, the WHO report is a high-level evidence synthesis, so the details of studies included and assessments of the quality of the evidence base included is currently unclear.

Aims

Therefore, building on the findings from the WHO report, this review had three aims:

- 1. To review the evidence on how arts engagement can impact on the following three DCMS policy-relevant outcomes: (i) social outcomes, (ii) youth development, and (iii) the prevention of mental and physical illness.
- 2. To review the evidence on how social prescribing programmes that have used arts interventions can impact on the three outcomes above, again reviewing the types of studies and quality of the evidence base.
- 3. To provide a series of recommendations for how DCMS might invest in future research or academic collaboration to build the evidence base on interventions impacting on these three outcomes.

We drew on studies included in the WHO report and conducted further literature searches (see methods in Appendix 1). Our results present the findings by study type and discuss the quality of the evidence base for each specific outcome.

Summary of findings

Using the FORM Body of Evidence Matrix, which considers the quality, consistency, generalizability and potential impact of the evidence base for each particular outcome (see Appendix 2), our findings show strong 'grade A' evidence for the following outcomes, suggesting that this evidence can be trusted to guide policy:

- The use of music to support infant social development
- The use of book reading to support child social development
- The use of music or reading for speech and language development amongst infants and children
- The use of the arts to support aspects of social cohesion
- The use of the arts to improve wellbeing (i.e. positive psychological factors) in adults
- The use of the arts to reduce physical decline in older age

Our findings show promising 'grade B' evidence for the following outcomes, suggesting that this evidence can be trusted to guide policy in most situations:

- The use of the arts (other than reading) to support child social development
- The use of the arts to support wellbeing in children and young people
- The use of the arts to support cognition in older age

Our findings show weaker 'grade C and D' evidence for the following outcomes. This is largely due to insufficient research to date but suggests that caution should be taken if developing policy in these areas and more work is needed:

- The use of the arts to reduce social inequalities
- The use of the arts to improve educational attainment
- The use of the arts to manage or treat mental illness (e.g. depression and anxiety) in children and young people
- The use of the arts to prevent mental illness (e.g. depression and anxiety) in adults
- The use of the arts to prevent further cognitive decline in adults with cognitive impairments
- The use of the arts to reduce non-communicable disease incidence

In relation to the use of social prescribing (SP), we focused specifically on SP that involves arts activities to explore whether arts-based SP is an effective mechanism for connecting individuals to arts activities. The evidence is promising for wellbeing and social cohesion ('grade B') but weak for physical health and social inequalities, and non-existent for social development, the prevention of mental illness, and cognition. Nevertheless, economic evaluations suggest there may be benefits including returns on investment and social returns on investment from implementing arts-based SP.

Methods

Searches

The initial source for this report was the World Health Organisation report on arts and health published in November 2019, which includes the findings from over 3,500 studies (1). Data were drawn from the WHO report in relation to each of the topics selected for inclusion in this report. As the WHO report was not intended to be exhaustive, further searches were also undertaken for this report using keyword searches of databases including Google Scholar, PubMed, ScienceDirect, Cochrane Library and Web of Science. We focused on studies published in the English language (but with no geographical limitations) since 2000. We only include studies that involved humans and used any arts activities as the intervention of focus. Studies were excluded if they were animal studies, they focused exclusively on architecture or design, or they involved broader activities outside the scope of our definition of arts, such as gardening, engagement with the natural environment, cookery, sports or religion. We placed no geographical limitation on the studies included, but the vast majority were from OECD countries. Where possible, we present the findings from meta-analyses and systematic reviews. However, additionally, we discuss the findings from individual studies not included within any of these reviews. Of note, this report was undertaken very rapidly to meet a policy need, so it is not a systematic review nor rapid evidence assessment. Nevertheless, it gives an indication of the scope and quality of the available evidence.

For the social prescribing evidence base specifically, we restricted our searches to studies that specifically mentioned the arts in relation to SP. Studies that just mentioned SP but that did not say whether any kind of arts activity was included within the offering for patients were excluded. We also focused exclusively on SP interventions that used a link worker model, whereby individuals were referred by a GP to a link worker, who then helped them identify a suitable activity. This is the model that is currently being rolled out by NHS England. Therefore, SP interventions that involved either direct referrals from GPs or individual self-referral were excluded.

Definitions

We focused on four types of **arts activities**: performing arts (e.g. making music, dancing, acting etc.); visual arts, design and crafts (e.g. drawing, clay modelling, photography, sewing etc.); literature (e.g. reading, creative writing, other literary activities etc.); and culture (e.g. going to museums, galleries, exhibitions, concerts, the theatre, community events, cultural festivals, and fairs). We focused on three types of outcomes. For **social outcomes**, we categorised the studies into social development in infants and children, social cohesion and social inequalities. For **youth development**, we categorised the studies into speech and language development, educational attainment, and mental health. Finally, for **prevention of mental and physical illness** in adulthood, we categorised the studies into prevention of mental illness, cognition in older age, and prevention of physical illness. In this report, mental health is used as an umbrella term to include prevention of mental illness (e.g. depression or anxiety) and promotion of wellbeing (positive factors such as flourishing and meaning in life).

Quality assessment

To assess the quality of the evidence base, we used the FORM Body of Evidence Matrix (2). FORM is a structured process for considering the whole body of evidence relevant to a particular question. As an approach, it recognises that ascribing a level of evidence to each study that reflects the risk of bias in its design is only one small part of assessing evidence for a guideline recommendation. Therefore, FORM provides a framework for assessing all of the studies relevant to a particular outcome against five criteria. To assess the evidence base, it looks at the quantity and quality of included studies. In particular, RCTs are considered as the gold-standard approach to make causal claims, while representative cohort studies provide data on generalisability of findings. Other quantitative and qualitative designs are considered to provide further detail but to be less suitable for attributing replicable impact to specific interventions. This quality assessment approach is similar to other methods such as the Maryland Scientific Methods Scale in looking at issues such as design and bias, but is a more rapid, less detailed assessment. FORM also looks at the consistency of findings between studies; the potential impact suggested by the evidence base; the generalisability of the results to the population for whom the guideline is intended; and the applicability of the results to their intended setting. Under FORM, these five key components are individually assessed for each question giving a picture of both the internal and external validity of the evidence base under consideration. FORM was originally developed as a tool for clinical practice guideline development, so this report uses a modified version of FORM for non-clinical policy guideline development, which involves minor changes to the evidence matrix, such as removing references to healthcare contexts, clarifying the assessment of the evidence base, and interpreting grades of recommendation in relation to development of policy.

Arts engagement and health outcomes

Social outcomes

A SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

There are multiple social outcomes for which the evidence suggests benefits from engagement with the arts. There is strong evidence that music can support social development in infants including enhancing infant attention, affect, and mother-infant bond. There is also promising evidence that other arts activities can support child social development, including improving prosocial skills, social competence and socio-emotional development. There is also strong evidence that arts engagement can enhance aspects of social cohesion, including reducing individual loneliness and isolation, increasing prosocial behaviours, reducing aggression and discrimination, and improving social consciousness. There is weaker evidence on the effects of the arts on social inequalities. A number of studies suggest economic benefits to communities and societies from engagement with the arts, but these have used observational methods, and it is unclear precisely whether individuals of higher or lower socio-economic status benefit most. Further, there are a small number of studies suggesting that the arts can particularly support individuals from lower socio-economic backgrounds, enhancing psychological, biological and social outcomes. Finally, there are some preliminary studies suggesting benefits to individuals and communities facing disadvantage, such as reducing discrimination and tensions, and supporting empowerment. But the evidence on the effects of the arts on social inequalities remains for future studies to explore further. More detail on the specific studies and an assessment of this evidence base is provided below.

QUANTITY AND QUALITY OF STUDIES

SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT IN INFANTS AND YOUNG CHILDREN

RCTs: Several studies have looked at arts and social development in *infants.* A systematic review including 5 RCTs and 139 other quantitative studies found that motherese (maternal musical vocal interaction with babies) promotes infants' affect and attention (3). This has been supported by the findings from individual RCTs outside of this review, such as those focusing on Family Nurture Interventions (FNI) that include vocal soothing as a form of co-regulation between mother and infant, which have shown improved caregiving behaviours for new mothers (n=115) (4), and enhanced social-relatedness (n=59) (5). An RCT including 31 preterm infants also found that live music, when compared to recorded or no music (n=31) had a positive effect on infants' behavioural state, and improved interactions between nurses and infants, but the sample size is small (6). However, these effects appear strongest in the post-partum period as an RCT exploring music listening during pregnancy (n=296) found no significant changes to maternal-foetal attachment after birth (7).

Amongst young children, a meta-analysis of 18 RCTs found that parent-child book reading is beneficial to child and parent psychosocial functioning in ages 0-6 years (8). Individual RCTs have also shown that large-scale community orchestral music programmes can improve self-control, reduce behavioural differences, and lower aggressive behaviour (n=2914) (9), and dance therapy for children with learning disabilities can improve interpersonal relationships (10).

Quantitative studies: The findings from RCTs have been supported by further findings from other quantitative studies. Amongst *infants*, quasi-experimental research has shown that singing to infants is associated with increases in maternal perceptions of emotional closeness (n=43) (11), modulation of infant arousal (n=34) (12), and can improve postnatal bonding (n=168) (13). Music therapy song-writing in the form of composing welcome songs for preterm babies has also been found to support parent-infant communication and bonding (n=15), although the sample size is small so caution is required in interpreting the findings(14). A cross-sectional survey of 391 new mothers has shown associations between singing to babies and mother-infant bond (15).

Amongst *children*, studies support and expand on findings from RCTs. Art therapy within parental training (n=87) can promote children's acceptance by peers and by their mother (16), and opera for children aged 9-10 (n=104) (17) and drama for school children (n=913) (18) have been associated with increased bullying awareness. Further, drumming has been associated with improved domains of socio-emotional behaviour amongst children aged 10-12 (n=101) (19), group music training for children with poor prosocial skills aged 8 (n=84) has been associated with increased sympathy and prosocial behaviour (20), and music for children aged 5-11 (n=20) has been associated with improved social competence (21). Social inclusion and related psychological factors such as self-concept have also been found to be higher amongst

children who sing together (n=6087) (22). Further, music is associated with reduced aggressive behaviour amongst teenagers with visual impairments (n=56) (23). Cross-sectional data from children aged 4-7 years (n=276) has also shown an association between group music lessons and social skills (24), while data from adolescents and young adults (n=760) has shown that family cohesion is higher in families who listen to music together (25). Longitudinal data have shown that shared musical activities at home amongst children aged 2-5 (n=3031) are associated with prosocial skills and attentional regulation (26).

Qualitative studies: The findings from qualitative studies further echo the findings from RCTs and quantitative studies, showing that music can support child development and quality of mother-infant interactions (27), singing can enhance mother-infant bond (28), and arts activities can support the development of prosocial behaviours (29). Further, qualitative studies have proposed that other related outcomes may be affected too, such as arts enabling child-directed experiences of freedom and belonging, thereby supporting development (30), and visual arts contributing to social, mental, and emotional child development (31).

Overall, the evidence base for studies on music and infant development is very strong (B), consistent (A), generalizable (A), applicable (A), and has the potential for meaningful impact (B). The evidence base on arts and the development of older children is very strong for studies on book reading (A) but smaller for other arts activities (B). However, these findings are consistent (A), relatively generalisable (B) and applicable (B), and there is potential for meaningful impact (B). This provides an overall grade of recommendation of A for the evidence on music and infants and B for the evidence on both arts and reading for children. The body of evidence on arts and social development can be trusted to guide policy development in general for infants, and in most situations for children.

SOCIAL COHESION

RCTs: Social cohesion refers to the willingness of people within society to cooperate with and support one another. It includes people's social interactions, behaviours and experiences. A meta-analysis of published and unpublished experimental data from 14 RCTs has shown that fiction reading improves cognitive processes involved in social interactions (32), while another review of 8 RCTs found that creative reading activities have a positive effect on child prosocial behaviour (33). A systematic review focused on interventions that could alleviate loneliness and social isolation for adults aged 55+ found 4 RCTs showing that community-engaged art programs for this age group reduce loneliness and social isolation (34). Further, in individual RCTs, music with pro-integration lyrics for university students (n=291) has been found to reduce prejudice, aggression and discrimination (35).

Quantitative studies: RCT findings are supported by quasi-experimental studies that have shown increases in social closeness and cohesion from singing for 70-90 minutes including amongst healthy adults (n=369) (36,37), and people affected by cancer (n=193) (38). This bonding effect appears to be faster than for other non-musical social activities (37). Relationships have been found to be stronger amongst police and the community as a result of theatre projects (n=10) (39), and amongst young people who engage in social circus programmes (n=93) (40). Further, prosocial behaviours such as volunteering and charitable giving have been shown to increase over a period of 2 years amongst adults who engage more in the arts (n=30,476) (41), and theatre has prompted individuals aged over 15 (n=44) to want to change the situation around domestic and family violence, thereby improving social consciousness (42).

Qualitative studies: Qualitative studies further support these findings, reporting improvements in social acceptance, connection and social isolation amongst individuals affected by dementia engaging in dance (43), and improvements in relationships and social inclusion both amongst disadvantaged adults engaging in dance (44) and children with and without disabilities engaging in outdoor arts (45). Intergenerational community arts projects have been reported to support relationships, personal development, social inclusion, social networks, confidence, and self-esteem and develop a sense of social justice, empathy, and support for others amongst older adults aged 65-95 and volunteers aged 55-75 (46–48). Mixed arts activities have been shown to develop social engagement and practical skills that are useful in finding work amongst refugees and asylum seekers (49), as well as build resilience for indigenous youth communities (50). Finally, group storytelling has been reported as a catalyst for community regeneration (51), and social circus as a way to improve social acceptance and social identity for young people (40).

The evidence base on arts and aspects of social cohesion such as social interactions, behaviours and loneliness is strong (A), consistent (A), generalizable (A), applicable (A), and has a potentially large impact (A). This provides an overall grade

of recommendation of A, suggesting the evidence base on arts and social cohesion is strong and can be trusted to guide policy development.

SOCIAL INEQUALITIES

RCTs: There is some evidence to suggest that engagement in the arts can help to reduce inequalities in health outcomes for children experiencing adverse circumstances. For example, an RCT with children (n=26) found that community-based music therapy could reduce depression, anxiety, withdrawal and improve attention problems for those who had been exposed to maltreatment and poverty, although the sample size is small (52). Additionally, a cluster RCT including 235 school children with reading difficulties living in an impoverished area also found that music classes had an effect on reading ability (53).

Quantitative studies: Building on the findings of the RCTs with children, arts activities have been found to reduce stress hormone levels in children who are economically disadvantaged aged 3-5 (n=310) (54). Other quantitative studies have focused on other aspects of inequality. For example, economic studies have shown that cultural sites and the music industry provide job opportunities and support social mobility, employment and socioeconomic stability for both individuals and communities (55−60). For example, the music industry in Seattle creates 11,155 jobs (55), the impact of visitor spending from a Jazz festival in Italy is estimated to be around €1.4 million (56), and the impact of Edinburgh's 12 festivals has been measured at £280m in Edinburgh and £313m in Scotland, bringing in 5,660 new jobs in Edinburgh in 2015 (60). Questionnaire data from festival visitors (n=335) of a multicultural festival have also revealed that festival engagement resulted in cognitive, social and affective benefits, suggesting that multicultural festivals may contribute to social integration in countries experiencing significant shifts in ethnic composition (61).

Qualitative studies: Qualitative research has covered broader outcomes relating to inequalities that have not yet been tested in quantitative studies. For example, it has suggested that singing and dance can support disadvantaged adults through formation of a new group identity (62). Music-making is also reported to help engage marginalised youth in educational settings (63) and support empowerment in marginalised communities (64), and art-making has been reported to give a voice to marginalised communities (65). Further studies suggest the arts can support an understanding of cultural traditions, including preventing discriminatory attitudes and reducing harassment and ethnic tension amongst communities (66,67).

The evidence base on arts and social inequalities is currently relatively poor (D), with relatively good quality results from quantitative studies but weaker and smaller evidence from RCTs. Findings are currently inconsistent as the outcomes used have been heterogeneous (C), but epidemiology evidence suggests findings have good generalisability (B) and applicability (B) with potential minor impact (C). The overall grade of recommendation is C, suggesting the body of evidence on arts and social inequalities has some policy implications but caution should be taken in its application.

Youth development

A SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

There are multiple aspects of child development for which the evidence suggests benefits from engagement with the arts. There is very strong evidence that music can support speech and language in infants, while wider arts and reading can support the further development of language in children. Further, there is promising evidence that arts engagement can support wellbeing in young people. The evidence is more mixed for other outcomes. In relation to education attainment, although some RCTs of music interventions and a large number of quantitative and qualitative studies suggest benefits, other RCTs of music interventions provide conflicting evidence. For other art forms, the literature is weaker still. In relation to mental illness, there is currently little evidence that the arts can support in the management or treatment of specific conditions such as anxiety or depression for young people, but this appears to be driven by a lack of research rather than null findings.

QUANTITY AND QUALITY OF STUDIES

SPEECH AND LANGUAGE DEVELOPMENT

RCTs: Amongst *infants*, a systematic review including 5 RCTs and 139 other quantitative studies have found that motherese (maternal musical vocal interaction with babies) can promote infants' language learning (3). This has been supported by the findings from individual RCTs outside of this review on music exposure that have shown earlier and larger brain responses to musical tones amongst 6 month olds (68).

Amongst *children*, music has been found to improve sound processing and language development in 4-5 year olds (n=74) (69). Similarly, amongst children using cochlear implants, music training improves emotional speech prosody (n=18), but the sample size is small (70). Amongst children with dyslexia aged 8-11, music classes improve rhythmic abilities, phonological awareness and reading skills (n=26), but again the sample size is small (71). Amongst children with reading difficulties aged 8-10, music education improves phonological awareness (n=235) (53). In relation to other arts activities, a meta-analysis of 19 RCTs found that shared book reading in children aged 1-6 improves expressive language and receptive language (72).

Quantitative studies: The findings from RCTs are supported by further quantitative studies. Amongst infants, reading to babies aged 3-12 months has been found to improve language and social communication skills (n=32) (73). Amongst children, quasi-experimental studies have shown enhanced neuroplasticity, enhanced processing of aspects of speech, and improved linguistic abilities in musical compared to non-musical school children (n=24) (74), as well as speech improvement in 8-year old children as a result of musical training (n=32) (75). A study of 250 primary school students found that long-term musical training was associated with second language development (76), while a longitudinal study of children aged 5-6 (n=66) involved in community music classes found improvements in children's language processing, vocabulary skills, and linguistic skills (77). Studies of music training have found brain changes in children aged 6-7 (n=75) (78), and greater grey matter volumes in different brain areas in adult musicians aged 20-32 (n=44) who had been playing for up to 26 years (79). Neuroscientific evidence also supports this, with reviews of multiple quantitative studies showing that music can result in positive changes in brain structure and function, therefore helping cognitive processes in everyday life (80). Further, these results are not confined to neurotypical children. Amongst children with dyslexia (n=24), music training can lead to improvements in auditory attention and phonological awareness (81). Similarly, classroom music for children with autism and other developmental disabilities can improve verbal responsiveness (n=33) (82), while amongst children with Rett syndrome (n=23) music can improve communication skills (83), and amongst children who are deaf (n=28) music can improve auditory perceptual skills (84).

Qualitative studies: Qualitative research has further echoed these findings, reporting that music can support children's communication and expressive behaviours (85) and, similarly, can support communication development in children with (86) and without (87) disabilities.

The evidence on music and infant speech and language development is very strong (A), consistent (A), generalizable (A), applicable (A), and has a potentially large impact (A). The evidence on both reading and arts on child language development is similarly strong (A), consistent (A), generalizable (A), applicable (A), and has a potentially meaningful impact (B). This provides an overall grade recommendation of A for music in infants, and A for both music and reading in childhood, suggesting the body of evidence on music and reading for infants and children is strong and can be trusted to guide policy development.

EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT

RCTs: One meta-analysis including 6 RCTs found that music training may enhance literacy development as a result of changes in brain mechanisms that support music and language cognition (88). However, these results have been shown to be small to moderate in effect size and a recent review of 54 experimental studies (n=23 RCTs) found that statistically significant results were found only in studies using no randomisation (89). This is also supported in other individual RCTs, such as two RCTs including a total of 74 children aged four which found no consistent evidence for non-musical cognitive benefits from music classes (90). A systematic review including 12 studies (a mixture of RCTs and other quasi-experimental designs) exploring music education in children aged 4-12 to examine why results are inconclusive or contradictory found that unclear results could be explained by lack of uniform research methods across studies (91).

Quantitative studies: In relation to studies on music, non-randomised quasi-experimental studies not included in the reviews above have reported music training is associated with enhanced reading ability amongst university students (n=166) (93), and music psychotherapy is associated with increased concentration and improved school marks amongst students aged 12 suffering from school failure (n=21) (95). Cross-sectional data have shown that childhood instrument playing or singing are positively associated with educational achievements (n=608-3222) (98,99), while longitudinal data have shown that shared musical activities at home amongst children aged 2-5 (n=3031) are associated with better numeracy (26). Benefits have also been reported amongst children with dyslexia; a systematic review including 23 quantitative studies exploring music education and dyslexia found that music improved literacy skills (96); a finding supported by another study showing associations between music training and improvements in reading abilities for those with dyslexia (n=24) (79). Further, while the results on cognitive transfer effects are debated, a systematic review of two quasi-experimental and five mixed-methods studies has suggested that music programmes can reduce truancy and increase attendance in school (97).

In relation to other art forms, dance has been associated with higher levels of selective attention amongst school students in years 5 and 6 (n=192) (92) and increased mental age amongst reception class school children (n=53) (93), and is associated with higher academic performance in students aged 11 (n=714) (94). Museum engagement has been associated with improved spatial reasoning in children aged 4 (n=111) (95). Both dance and cultural engagement are associated with higher verbal IQ scores in those aged 7-12 (n=99) (96).

Qualitative studies: Findings from qualitative studies have suggested benefits from music: group singing in primary schools has been reported to enhance students' musical learning and teacher skills, as well as promote learning in other academic subjects (97). In under-achieving secondary schools, music has been reported to reengage disaffected youth, promote inclusiveness and meet individual student needs (98). Amongst other art forms, art-integrated approaches to education in primary schools have been reported to support student learning in meaningful ways and enable students to better express learning outcomes (99), visual arts in secondary school education have been reported to support students in developing critical perspectives (31), and school environments have been suggested as suitable environments for art therapy, increasing agency in school students (87).

The evidence base on music and educational attainment is very high quality (A), generalisable (A) and applicable (A), but it likely only has the potential for modest impact (C) and is of poor consistency (D). Although some RCTs and a large number of quantitative and qualitative studies suggest benefits, other RCTs provide conflicting evidence. As such, this provides an overall grade of C: care should be taken in using findings on music and education to guide policy development. For other art forms and educational attainment, the evidence base is currently weak as we lack RCTs (D), but the quantitative and qualitative data show relative consistency (B), generalisability (B) and applicability (B), with potential for modest impact (C). Nevertheless, as we lack RCTs the grade of recommendation is a D: evidence on other art forms and educational attainment is still weak and more research is required.

MENTAL HEALTH

RCTs: In relation to *wellbeing*, a meta-analysis of 11 RCTs of music therapy for children and adolescents with psychopathology has found improvements in self-confidence, self-esteem and self-concept (100), and a systematic review of 7 RCTs has found that dance can improve well-being in young people aged 15-24 (101). Amongst individual RCTs not included within these reviews, dance therapy for children with learning disabilities has been found to improve emotion recognition and self-esteem (10), music therapy for children and adolescents aged 8-16 with behavioural and emotional problems (n=251) has improved self-esteem (102), and digital music has supported young people aged 16 to 25 with mild levels of mental distress (n=169) to identify and manage their emotions (103).

However, in relation to arts and the incidence or management of mental illness, there have been very few studies. The study of music therapy for children with behavioural and emotional problems reported reduced depression scores (102), but more work is needed. Further, an RCT found that music therapy could reduce depression, anxiety, withdrawal and improve attention problems for children who had been exposed to maltreatment and poverty (n=26) (52).

Quantitative studies: Findings relating to wellbeing are supported by quasi-experimental studies. In a study of adolescents aged 13-14 (n=60) music has been found to improve emotional intelligence (104), while musical theatre engagement is related to socio-emotional functioning in children with intellectual disability or delay (n=47) (105) and

music with improved emotional regulation in 'at risk' adolescents aged 13-14 (n=257) (106). Moreover, a scoping review including 12 experimental studies has suggested that performance and visual arts programmes can support those with disabilities through positively impacting upon psychosocial wellbeing (107). A rapid review including 4 studies with a quantitative component also found that arts activities for children and young people can build resilience (108).

In relation to *mental illness*, there remain few studies, in particular little specifically on the incidence of conditions such as anxiety and depression. But in longitudinal data analyses, creative activities are associated with a lower relative risk of social and behavioural instability and maladjustment (which includes depression and hostility) amongst 7-11 year olds (n=7558) (109), and arts therapies have been found to improve emotional and behavioural difficulties for young people aged 10-16 (n=81) (110).

Qualitative studies: Qualitative studies provide further data on wellbeing. Drama has been reported to promote emotional awareness and empathy and improve well-being and communication (111), arts therapies for young people aged 10-16 have been reported to support emotional regulation (110), and visual arts have been reported to facilitate self-expression (31). Further qualitative studies have proposed that other related outcomes may be affected too, such as dance movement psychotherapy for young people aged 17 supporting improved perceptions of body image (112).

The evidence base on mixed arts and aspects of wellbeing in young people is excellent (A), consistent (A), and relatively generalisable (B). It is of satisfactory applicability as the contexts of intervention have varied so much (C). The potential for impact is substantial (B). This provides an overall grade of recommendation of B: the evidence on arts and wellbeing in young people is strong and can be trusted to guide policy development in most situations. The evidence based for mental illness is poor (D), and consistency, generalisability, applicability and impact cannot be assessed properly yet. This provides an overall grade of recommendation of D: the evidence on arts and mental illness in children and young people is weak and requires developing.

Prevention of mental and physical ill health

A SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

There are several aspects relating to the prevention of mental and physical illness where the evidence suggests benefits from engagement with the arts. There is strong evidence that arts can support wellbeing in adults. Results show benefits including enhancing aspects of pleasure ("hedonia"), flourishing ("eudemonia"), and quality of life. There is also strong evidence on the benefits of arts engagement for cognition in older age, including memory and executive function. Further, there is strong evidence that the arts can reduce physical decline in older adults, including improving gait, strength and balance. There are also some areas where the evidence base is weaker, but this appears to be driven by a lack of studies rather than null findings. For example, there is currently limited evidence that engagement with the arts can reduce the incidence of mental illness. There are promising data from epidemiology studies but this remains to be studied further in trials. Similarly, there is promising data on the effects of arts on cognitive decline in adults with cognitive impairments and dementias, but the evidence base is currently heterogeneous. There is also weak evidence at present that engagement with the arts can reduce the incidence of non-communicable diseases. Nevertheless, there are some early findings suggesting future potential in this area, in particular in relation to health-related behaviours and stress-related physiological changes that are relevant to various health conditions.

QUANTITY AND QUALITY OF STUDIES

PREVENTION OF MENTAL ILL HEALTH (IN ADULTS)

RCTs: In relation to wellbeing, a systematic review of 7 RCTs has found that dance can improve well-being in young adults aged 15-24 (101), while a systematic review including 22 RCTs has found reliable evidence that music and singing can improve wellbeing in adults (113). Systematic reviews have also shown that the arts can improve wellbeing for particular patient populations, such as a review including 6 RCTs showing that music may improve quality of life for cancer patients (114), and a review including 22 RCTs showing that music may improve emotional well-being and quality of life as well as reduce depression for those with dementia (115). However, a systematic review including 2 RCTs exploring the benefits of art therapy found no clear changes in relation to emotional wellbeing or quality of life when comparing art therapy to other activities for people with dementia (116). Individual RCTs have also found that

community singing increases quality of life for adults aged 60+ (n=258) (117), playing percussion instruments reduces stress and improves well-being for oncology staff (n=48) (118), and dance reduces stress and improves quality of life for adults suffering with stress (n=162) (119,120).

Although there is a large literature of RCTs on the *treatment or management* or mental illness through arts involvement (as reviewed in the WHO report (1)), there are, as yet, no RCTs that have shown that arts engagement can reduce the *incidence* of mental illness (such as depression or anxiety).

Quantitative studies: Supporting RCTs on wellbeing, quasi-experimental intervention studies have shown that wellbeing can be improved by arts activities (n=127-687) (121,122), and cultural engagement (n=100-115) (123) (124). Music making can also improve quality of life for individuals aged 50+ (n=398) (125), and circus-arts can improve self-perceptions of personal health (126). In cross-sectional studies, dance is associated with enhanced wellbeing in young women (n=201) (127), attendance at cultural events with enhanced occupational well-being in employees (128), crafts activities with enhanced wellbeing in adults (n= 37,000) (129), and music listening with improved wellbeing in young adults aged 17-25 (n=107) (130). A scoping review including 16 studies with a quantitative component also found that Men's Sheds (community spaces where men can connect and engage in activities including arts) can improve mental health and wellbeing (131). Analyses of longitudinal cohort data have shown that community arts or music classes are associated with enhanced wellbeing in adults aged 50+ (n=2548) (132) and life satisfaction in adults (133).

In relation to the incidence of mental illness, other quasi-experimental studies have suggested that singing can prevent increases in depression and decreases in wellbeing and self-esteem amongst individuals who have been bereaved (n=58) (134). Further, analyses of longitudinal cohort data have shown that cultural engagement is associated with a reduced risk of developing depression in adults aged 50+ (N= 2148) (135).

Qualitative studies: Qualitative studies echo these findings for wellbeing, such as reporting that music and circus-arts can support wellbeing (126,130,136), and arts engagement can provide a sense of purpose, empowerment and personal growth (121,137), as well as improving self-esteem and confidence (108,138). Further, qualitative studies have also proposed that community drumming can promote emotional, psychological and social dimensions of wellbeing for mental health service users and their carers (139) and community arts festivals can support self-efficacy and emotional response (140). There has been limited qualitative research on the incidence of mental illness, but it has been reported that music-making can protect against stress and depression (125).

The evidence base on mixed arts and aspects of wellbeing in adults is excellent (A), consistent for arts engagement (but less so for arts therapies) (A), and generalisable (A). It is of good applicability (B). The potential for impact is substantial (A). This provides an overall grade of recommendation of A: the evidence on mixed arts and wellbeing in adults is strong and can be trusted to guide policy development. The evidence based on the prevention of mental illness is of satisfactory quality (C), with no RCTs but good quality quantitative studies. These findings are so far consistent (A), and relatively generalizable and applicable due to the epidemiological approach (B), with potential for meaningful impact (B). But this remains to be explored further. This provides an overall grade of recommendation of C: the evidence shows some preliminary support for using the arts to prevent mental illness, but caution should be taken in its application.

COGNITION IN OLDER AGE

RCTs: In relation to the effect of arts on cognition in older age amongst individuals *not yet showing signs of cognitive decline*, a meta-analysis of 10 RCTs focused on musical instrument playing in adults aged 60+ has shown enhanced speed, memory, and executive function (141). Further, a systematic review of 8 RCTs has found that dance can trigger structural changes in the brain, including increased hippocampal volume and gray matter volume, as well as functional changes such as improved cognitive function (142). Multiple individual RCTs not included in these reviews have also shown that dance can have cognitive benefits: Latin dance programmes can improve episodic memory and overall cognition for adults aged 55+ (n=57) (143), and social dancing can improve cognitive domains such as spatial memory for adults (n=115) (144). Individual RCTs have further shown that music training can improve verbal memory and visual memory in older adults (average age 77 years; n=24), but the sample size is small (145). Also, theatre programmes can improve cognitive and affective measures amongst adults aged 68-93 (n=122) (146), and arts therapies can improve cognitive function amongst older people (average age 71 years; n=68) (147).

Fewer studies have been conducted on the cognitive effects of the arts for individuals already experiencing cognitive decline. But it has been shown that amongst individuals with mild cognitive impairment, creative activities can improve general cognitive functioning and memory (N=93) (148), ballroom dance can improve cognition for those with amnestic mild cognitive impairment (n=129) (149), and music can improve episodic memory and, to a lesser extent, attention, executive function and general cognition for those with mild to moderate dementia (n=80) (150). There is also a large literature on the benefits of the arts for emotional and social functioning in people with cognitive decline, but that is not included here and discussed further in the WHO report (1).

Quantitative studies: In addition to RCTs, quasi-experimental quantitative studies have shown that, for *cognitively unimpaired adults*, musical training is associated with improved visual spatial ability and executive functioning (n=58) (151), improved memory in later life (n=237) (152) and better executive control in later life (N=34) (153). Supporting this, a scoping review including 1 non-randomised intervention study and 9 descriptive studies found that music playing was correlated with positive outcomes on cognitive ability for adults aged 50+ (154). Similarly, visual arts engagement is associated with increases in brain activity in older adults (average age 68 years; n=60) (155), theatre is associated with improved cognition (n=124) (156), and dance may enhance cognitive resilience (n=87) (157). Further, analyses of longitudinal cohort data have shown that cultural engagement is associated with a lower incidence rate of dementia (N=3911 & 9550) (158,159), and a lesser decline in cognitive function (N= 3,445) (160), while playing a musical instrument is associated with a lower likelihood of developing dementia or cognitive impairment (N=314) (161).

Quasi-experimental studies have also explored the benefits of the arts for those with dementia: reading can impact positively on cognitive skills including enhanced memory, listening and attention (n=61) (162), storytelling can lead to moderate increases in communication of basic needs (n=56) (163), and live music can increase levels of engagement (n=24) (164). As well as this, singing can improve memory and social interaction (n=29) (165), and increase communication and participation (n=45) (166). Further, art-making can provide an opportunity for sustained attention (n=53) (167,168).

Qualitative studies: Qualitative studies echo these findings, reporting that music has perceived cognitive benefits for adults aged 50+, including improving memory and mental health (125), and arts engagement can improve episodic memory (169). For those with mild dementia; artistic activities are reported to support feelings of cognitive capacity (170) and comedy is reported to prompt perceived improvements to memory, learning and communication (171).

The evidence base on arts and cognition in healthy older adults is very strong (A) and consistent (A). It is relatively generalizable (B), although many studies have been laboratory studies so the applicability is only good (B). The findings have the potential for modest impact (C). This provides an overall grade of recommendation of B: the evidence on arts and cognition in healthy older adults is generally good and can be trusted to guide policy development in most situations. For studies on older adults experiencing cognitive decline, the evidence base is good (B), but heterogeneous in arts interventions and outcomes studied (consistency C), with currently adequate generalisability (C). The findings have the potential for modest impact (C), providing an overall grade of C: the evidence on the use of the arts for adults experiencing cognitive decline suggest promise but should be used with caution, especially in relation to the expected level of impact.

PREVENTION OF PHYSICAL ILLNESS IN HEALTHY ADULTS

RCTs: In relation to *physical function* in healthy older adults, a meta-analysis of 34 studies found that rhythmic auditory cueing improved gait for older adults (average age 68 years) and young adults (average age 27 years) (172). Further, a review of 7 RCTs found that dance can improve balance, gait and strength for adults aged 60+ (173), while a review of 10 RCTs found that dance can improve fear of falling (174). In terms of individual RCTs not included within the reviews mentioned above, dancing for women aged 60-80 years has been found to slow the decline of bone mineral density and improve balance ability (n=40) (175), and mobility (n=43) (176), although the sample size for both studies is small. There is a wider literature on the arts and physical decline in people with degenerative conditions such as Parkinson's, which is not covered here but can be read elsewhere (1).

There are, as yet, no RCTs that have shown that arts engagement can reduce the incidence of *physical illness* (in particular non-communicable diseases such as cardiovascular disease, cancer, respiratory disease or diabetes). However, a meta-analysis of 19 RCTs has found that music listening can decrease anxiety, cortisol levels and blood pressure (177), which are all associated with cardiovascular disease, and a systematic review of 37 studies (n=27 RCTs) found that

creative arts therapies can significantly reduce stress (178), amongst other reviews. Further, it has been found that the arts can decrease aortic stiffness and wave reflections which are predictors of cardiovascular risk (n=20) (179), and can also affect behavioural risk factors associated with non-communicable diseases. For example, dance-based exercise activities can improve sleep quality and reduce smoking and alcohol consumption for adults (n=40) (180), and recorded, relaxing music can support substance addicted individuals (n=21) to reduce cravings and compulsive behaviours (181).

Quantitative studies: In addition to RCTs, quasi-experimental studies of *physical function* have shown how dance can improve performance in motor and visual tasks (N=39) (182), balance and stability (N=13-253) (183–185), postural control and lower body strength (N=13-41) (186–188), bone health and muscle mass (n=28-42) (189,190), and risk of falling (n=253) (185), as well as increase moderate and vigorous physical activity (n=60) (191). Musical training has been shown to slow the rate of age-related hearing loss (n=175) (192), while participatory arts programmes have been found to improve ratings of physical health in adults over the age of 64, reduce instances of falls, and increase levels of physical activity (193). Further, analyses of longitudinal cohort data have shown that cultural engagement is associated with a reduced risk of becoming frail and a slower progression of frailty over time (N=4,575) (194), and viewed as protective against the development of chronic pain (N=2,631) (195). Further, music listening has been associated with a decreased risk of falls in older hospital patients (average age 86 years; N=152) (196). Cultural engagement has also been associated with longevity, independent of demographic and socio-economic confounders, including amongst 10,609 adults aged 25-74 (197), 12,982 individuals aged 16-74 (198), 463 adults aged over 77 (199), 7,922 industrial employees (200), 7,217 adults aged over 30 (201), 5,087 adults aged 30-59 (202), and 6,710 adults aged 50 or over (203).

In relation to *physical illness*, analyses of longitudinal cohort data have shown that those with low social and cultural participation have an increased risk of coronary heart disease (N=6,900) (204), and dance engagement is associated with a reduced risk of cardiovascular disease mortality (N= 48,390) (205), and among adolescent twin boys, playing an instrument is associated with reduced the risk of becoming overweight later in life (N=5184 twins) (206). Reading is also associated with healthy lifestyle behaviours, including lower odds of trying a cigarette and alcohol, and increased fruit consumption (N=11,180) (207).

Qualitative studies: Qualitative studies echo these studies, including reporting that arts are a means to keep physically active (191), and to improve perceived physical health (131). Further, qualitative studies have proposed that other related outcomes may be affected too, such as dance improving movement memory and functional skill, as well as promoting positive attitudes towards exercise (208).

The evidence base on arts and physical decline is strong (A) and consistent (A), with good generalisability (A) and applicability (A) and potential for meaningful impact (B). This provides an overall grade of recommendation of A: the evidence on the use of the arts to reduce physical decline in older age is strong and can be trusted to guide policy development. However, for non-communicable diseases, the evidence base is poor (D), reliant on circumstantial data, with not enough data to assess consistency, generalisability, applicability, or impact, providing an overall recommendation grade of D: the body of evidence on the use of the arts to help prevent non-communicable disease incidence is currently weak.

Arts in social prescribing and health outcomes

In light of the findings presented above, it is relevant to consider schemes that help to connect individuals to arts activities for their health and wellbeing. Social prescribing (SP) is one such scheme being used to engage individuals with a range of activities and groups including functional support (e.g. job centres or benefits advice), training (e.g. skills or education to support employment), or community activities (e.g. gardening, exercise, arts & crafts groups, peer support, and shared reading). The typical model involves a GP referring a patient who could potentially benefit to a 'link worker' (sometimes referred to as a 'community navigator'). The link worker works with the patient to co-produce a personalised, community-based support plan based on 'what matters' to the patient, and then supports the patient to engage with the community group, service, or activity. As part of the Long Term Plan, NHS England has committed to hiring 1,000 Link Workers across 2019-20; one for each Primary Care Network (209). Although social prescribing can also take alternative forms, such as involving referrals direct from a GP and involving self-referrals without a GP being involved, in this report, we focus just on studies that have involved a GP in some capacity. Further, although there are relatively few studies that have focused on social prescribing that involved exclusively arts activities, there are a number

of studies where arts activities have been part of the social prescription. So we focus on those studies here in order to examine whether SP is an effective mechanism to engage individuals with arts activities and whether the same types of benefits reported in Section 1 can be replicated if patients are referred to the arts via SP. We exclude any studies where arts were not available to patients as part of the offering, or where it remains unknown whether arts was one of the options that patients received. Therefore, we refer to SP below as 'arts-based SP'.

Arts-based social prescribing and social outcomes

A SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

There is emerging evidence on the effectiveness of SP as a way of connecting individuals to arts-based activities for social outcomes. There is moderate evidence that arts-based SP can improve aspects of social cohesion such as loneliness, social isolation and social connectedness. However, there is only weak evidence that arts-based SP can have an effect on social inequalities: preliminary studies suggest benefits for the management of finances, debt reduction and activation in individuals who are unemployed, but more research is needed. There is no evidence on whether arts-based SP can affect social development.

QUANTITY AND QUALITY OF STUDIES

RCTs: In relation to *social development*, no RCTs of arts-based SP have been identified. In relation to *social cohesion*, an RCT of a 12-week arts on prescription scheme involving 66 adults with moderate anxiety or depression, demonstrated decreased social isolation (along with anxiety and depression) (210). Similarly, a cluster-RCT of a community engagement project involving 3986 adults from 20 matched pairs of neighbourhoods in deprived areas found a significant increase in social cohesion and neighbourhoods 'pulling together' (211). In relation to *social inequalities*, no RCTs of arts-based SP have been identified.

Quantitative studies: In relation to *social development*, no quantitative studies of arts-based SP have been identified. In relation to *social cohesion*, a study of adults aged 50+ found improvements in social support following arts-based SP (n=51) (212), while reductions in social isolation have been reported in multiple quantitative social prescribing studies (213–218). These findings have been echoed in studies specifically involving adults with mental illness: a study of adults with mild to severe anxiety or depression (n=342) found improvements in the size of patients' social networks as a result of engaging in arts-based SP (213), while a study of individuals with mixed mental health needs involved in arts-based SP showed improvements in ease of social interactions (n=53) (219), another study involving adults with mixed mental health problems found improvements in social inclusion and empowerment (n=62) (216), and a study of individuals with mental health problems and social isolation (n=399) found improvements in social connectedness, self-care and community trust (220). These findings have also been echoed in studies involving adults with physical illness. For example, a study of chronically ill patients experiencing loneliness (n=630) found that arts-based SP reduced loneliness and increased social connectedness including a sense of community belonging (218). Increased engagement with community activities has specifically been reported amongst individuals who have received arts-based SP, with studies showing increases in awareness of services and groups available in the community (n=292) (221), and increased engagement in these groups (n=280-630)) (218,222).

In relation to *social inequalities*, a study of 182 individuals, half of whom were unemployed at baseline, found improvements in debt reduction, access to debt advice, and ability to manage finances (223), and another (n=46) found increases in perceived economic well-being over a 3-month follow-up in adults with depression (214). A study involving older adults (average age 60; n=280) found improved improvements in work and finances (218), and a study of adults with long-term mental and physical health conditions found improvements in financial management (n=292) (221). A prospective cohort study of patients (n=48) of whom 65% were not in paid employment found improvements in patient activation (224). Further, an evaluation of adults with psychosocial issues (n=16) demonstrated improved well-being outcomes through tackling the social determinants of health such as financial difficulties, unemployment and education (225).

Qualitative studies: There have also been a number of qualitative studies on social outcomes from arts-based SP that corroborate findings from RCTs and other quantitative studies. Little has been undertaken on *social development* and

SP. In relation to *social cohesion*, studies have reported increased social connectedness (213,218), sociability (226,227), community integration, social skills and social relationships (228). In addition, other studies have reported reductions in social isolation both for adults who are unemployed and for patients with complex needs (229–231). There have also been reports of improved self-care and health-related behaviours in adults with one or more long-term condition (229) and in socially-isolated adults aged 50+ (212). Further, it has been reported that patients accessing a arts-based SP service can become less socially isolated, more independent (222). In relation to *social inequalities*, reports of improvements in economic wellbeing have been found amongst adults with depression (n=34) (214), and it has been reported that adults are more able to access the welfare benefits they are entitled to (222).

Overall, the evidence for arts-based SP as a mechanism of connecting individuals to arts activities is non-existent in relation to social development, and relatively weak in relation to social inequalities (evidence base C, consistency C, generalisability C, potential impact C: overall grade C). However, the evidence for arts-based SP as a mechanism of connecting individuals to arts activities is strong in relation to outcomes relating to aspects of social cohesion (evidence base B, consistency A, generalisability B, applicability B, potential impact A: overall grade B).

Social prescribing and youth development

A SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

Under the definition of SP we have set out (i.e. focusing on SP programmes that involved the arts), no published studies were found that involved SP for young people below the age of 18, so the effects of the scheme on youth development are currently unknown. However, children are eligible for SP under the national roll-out so studies may emerge shortly.

Social prescribing and prevention of mental and physical ill health

A SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

There is emerging evidence on the effectiveness of SP as a way of connecting individuals to arts-based activities for the prevention of illness. There is moderate evidence that arts-based SP can improve aspects of wellbeing, although there remains no evidence on the prevention of mental ill health. There is very weak evidence that arts-based SP can have an effect on physical ill health: preliminary studies suggest tentative benefits for health-related behaviours and self-reported health outcomes, but more research is needed. There is no evidence on whether arts-based SP can affect cognition.

QUANTITY AND QUALITY OF STUDIES

RCTs: An RCT of SP involving adult patients with psychosocial issues (n=161) found improvements in patients' anxiety, quality of life, feelings about general health, and ability to carry out general activities (232). An RCT involving adults with moderate anxiety or depression (n=42) found positive outcomes in 78% of the intervention group, with decreases in anxiety and depression scores (210). However, no RCTs have been found on *cognition* or prevention of *physical illness*.

Quantitative studies: Regarding *mental health*, quasi-experimental studies support the findings from RCTs, showing improvements in well-being, anxiety, and depression scores, and psychological empowerment, including in studies involving adults with mental health problems (n= 12-3,686) (210,212,213,215–217,219,220,233–239). No quantitative studies have been found on *cognition*. In relation to *physical health*, improvements in physical exercise and activity, self-care and health-related behaviours have also been found (N=30-128) (215,229), and patients with long-term mental or physical health conditions have reported better symptom management (n=147) (238), and greater perceived support to manage their health more effectively (n=292) (221). Further, frequent attenders have been found to have improved health outcomes and to become less reliant on health-care resources (N=21) (240).

Qualitative studies: Supporting the quantitative findings, a number of qualitative studies have reported benefits to patients' general *mental* health including well-being and mood (216,217,222,234,241–245). More specifically, arts-based SP schemes have been reported to improve aspects of flourishing, including self-esteem, control and sense of purpose (228,246). Further, arts-based SP schemes have been reported to affect wider aspects of patients' lives, including their self-care, health-related behaviours such as increased physical activity and improved diet (229). This

appears to be due, at least in part, to arts-based SP schemes helping patients to set goals and plan for 'normality' (227). Little qualitative research has been conducted on *cognition* or prevention of *physical illness*.

Overall, the evidence for arts-based SP as a mechanism of connecting individuals to arts activities is relatively good in relation to wellbeing (evidence base B, consistency A, generalisability B, applicability B, potential impact A: overall grade B). However, there is no evidence on arts-based SP and cognition, and weak evidence on prevention of physical illness (evidence base D and insufficient evidence to assess the other domains, providing an overall grade of D).

Economic evaluations

A number of economic evaluations of arts-based SP have been carried out. Of those that have specifically involved arts activities, the majority conducted have suggested returns on investment as a result of changes in health service utilisation, as well as social returns on investment as a result of the wider societal effects of SP. Please note, we have not been able to make an assessment of the quality of these studies and have not assessed if they comply with HM Treasury Green Book guidance.

RETURNS ON INVESTMENT

A cost benefit analysis of the Rotherham social prescribing project involving 280 mostly older people (87% > 60, 75% > 60, 46% > 80) found in-patient admissions reduced by 21%, A&E by 20% and outpatients by 20%, estimating a Return On Investment (ROI) of 50p for every £1 spent (222). The 5-year cost reduction was projected to increase to £3.38 for every £1 if the benefits identified were maintained, or there was a lower proposed figure of £1.41 per £1 if a 33% dropoff was assumed. Other evaluations have produced similar results. For example, an evaluation of a social prescribing scheme in Brighton & Hove (n=100) involving people mainly suffering with social isolation or psychosocial issues found a 12.7% increase in primary care capacity compared to matched controls because of reductions in GP appointments. This translated to £1,365 net cost saving per person (247). Similarly, a study of 21 patients found a direct cost saving of between £77.72 and £8,109 per "frequent attender" patient over 5 months based on reductions in healthcare usage before, during, and after the intervention (240). It has also been found that arts-based SP can lead to reductions in use of psychotropic medication, although the economic or social impact of this has not been calculated (245). However, some smaller studies have failed to find significant changes, potentially due to a lack of statistical power. For example, an observational study assessing the financial and environmental impacts associated with healthcare usage (GP appointments, psychotropic medications and secondary-care referrals) following SP involving adults with common mental health problems showed a trend towards reduced healthcare usage compared to controls, but this was not significant (248). Further, in the only RCT performed on link worker social prescribing, the intervention group was found to have improvements in anxiety and depression but alongside increased costs associated with primary care contact in the cost benefit analysis (232). However, this study only looked at costs after 4-months, with no analysis of longer-term savings beyond a year, so it is possible that this actually represented an increase in patient activation that may have still had economic benefits through supporting individuals in taking control of their own health longer term and in enabling the identification of health problems earlier along with a lowered usage of secondary care services. As such, it is recommended that measures of economic impact should take account of health care costs over follow-up periods of at least a year and consider not just primary care but also secondary care such as hospital admissions.

SOCIAL RETURNS ON INVESTMENT

Several of these studies have also performed Social Return On Investment (SROI) analysis. The Rotherham study previously mentioned estimated between patient well-being benefits valued at £810,000-£920,000 and an estimated annual value of volunteering within the pilot of £81,000-£148,000 (an additional 16-26p for each £1 invested) (222). A study of 128 patients found a SROI of £2.90 for every £1 spent, with 60% of patients showing a reduction in GP attendance rates over 12 months (215). The social impacts included harnessing volunteers, patients returning to paid employment, enhanced community capacity, and reduced suicide attempts. Another study involving 40 participants also demonstrated an ROI of 43p per £1 spend, and a £1.26 SROI, providing a total return of £1.69 per person (237). The ROI was calculated from emergency admissions, GP appointments, home visits and telephone call data 6-months before and after the SP intervention. The SROI also included attempted suicides prevented, improved well-being in

patients, value of volunteering, and return to employment. Finally, in a study of 48 patients in Waltham, there was a reported SROI of £1.09 to £1.92 for every £1 invested in the service after 4 months compared to the baseline (224).

These analyses echo similar findings from studies that have focused on the net benefits of participation in community assets (236). A study of 3,686 adults estimated the combined societal value of the effects of health-related quality of life and healthcare costs from one year of participation in community assets to be £763-£1142 per patient per year (236). Other research has suggested engagement with community assets delivers net economic benefits over the short and longer term, due to reductions in public sector service use such as social care (249).

Research Recommendations

In light of the evidence presented above, there are a number of areas where more research is encouraged. In relation to those topics that were graded C and D, it is recommended that work is initially done using an epidemiological approach to assess potential findings prior to investment in specific trials. Areas that are particularly promising include:

- 1. Research on arts and social inequalities, including whether (i) individual arts engagement is associated with social mobility across the life-course, (ii) population-level arts engagement is associated with levels of inequality, (iii) individual-level arts engagement is associated with better health or social outcomes that are normally adversely affected by inequalities, and (iv) individuals of lower social status benefit especially from arts engagement.
- 2. Research on arts and the prevention of mental illness in children and adults, including whether arts engagement at different stages of the lifespan is associated with lower risk of incidence of depression, anxiety or other mental illnesses.
- 3. Research on arts and the prevention of non-communicable diseases (NCDs), including whether arts engagement is associated with (i) lower engagement with unhealthy behaviours that are risk factors to NCDs such as sedentary behaviours, smoking and poor diet, and (ii) lower incidence of NCDs themselves.

For the evidence on educational attainment, more research is needed to understand why the evidence base is so mixed. In particular, it is recommended that studies are undertaken that take account of arts engagement outside of school as well as in school settings, and that focus on longer-term arts interventions and long-term outcomes.

In relation to social prescribing of arts interventions, much more research is needed across all areas reviewed here. In particular it is highlighted that there is no research on the use of arts-based SP amongst children and young people as a mechanism to engaging them with arts activities. In addition, further research would be helpful on the following general research questions:

- 1. Whether referring individuals to arts activities through arts-based SP leads to long-term changes in arts behaviours.
- 2. Whether there are sufficient arts activities available within communities for link workers in all parts of the country to refer patients too.
- 3. Why some individuals might be declining arts-based SP services, and whether these individuals are those with poorer health outcomes who could stand to benefit most.
- 4. Whether the link worker is an effective component within arts-based SP for supporting individuals to identify and engage with community arts activities.

APPENDIX 2: Modified FORM Grading Tables

Body of evidence matrix

Component	A Excellent	B Good	C Satisfactory	D Weak
Evidence base	Multiple good quality RCTs with a low risk of bias	One or two good quality RCTs with a low risk of bias or several good quality non-randomised quantitative studies with a low risk of bias	One or two good quality non-randomised quantitative studies with a low risk of bias, or several quantitative studies with a moderate risk of bias	One or two non-randomised quantitative studies with a moderate or high risk of bias, or only qualitative evidence
Consistency	All studies consistent	Most studies consistent and inconsistency may be explained	Some inconsistency reflecting genuine uncertainty around clinical question	Evidence is consistent
Generalisability	Population/s studied in body of evidence are the same as the target population in the guideline	Population/s studied in the body of evidence are similar to the target population for the guideline	Population/s studied in the body of evidence differ to the target population guideline but it is clinically sensible to apply this evidence to the target population ³	Population/s studied in the body of evidence differ to the target population and hard to judge whether it is sensible to generalize to target population
Applicability	Directly applicable to the relevant intervention context	Applicable to the relevant intervention context with a few caveats	Probably applicable to the relevant intervention context with some caveats	Not applicable to the relevant intervention context
Potential impact	The intervention has the potential to have a large effect on the outcome as demonstrated by large statistical effect sizes or the ability to have a substantial impact on the outcome	The intervention has the potential to have a meaningful effect on the outcome as demonstrated by moderate statistical effect sizes or the ability to have a tangible impact on the outcome	1 '	The intervention has the potential to have little tangible effect on the outcome

Definition of grades of recommendation

Grade of recommendation	Description
A	Body of evidence can be trusted to guide policy and practice
В	Body of evidence can generally be trusted to guide policy and practice in most situations
С	Body of evidence provides some early-stage support for developing recommendation(s) for policy or practice but caution should be taken in its application
D	Body of evidence is weak and is not recommended for developing recommendations for policy or practice at present

APPENDIX 3: References

- 1. Fancourt D, Finn S. Cultural Contexts of Health: The role of the arts in improving health and well-being in the WHO European Region. Copenhagen, World Health Organisation, 2019.
- 2. Hillier S et al. FORM: An Australian method for formulating and grading recommendations in evidence-based clinical guidelines. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 2011, 11(1):1–8.
- 3. Saint-Georges C et al. Motherese in Interaction: At the Cross-Road of Emotion and Cognition? (A Systematic Review). *PLoS ONE*, 2013, 8(10):e78103.
- 4. Hane AA et al. Family nurture intervention improves the quality of maternal caregiving in the neonatal intensive care unit: Evidence from a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics*, 2015, 36(3):188–196.
- 5. Welch MG et al. Family Nurture Intervention in the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit improves social-relatedness, attention, and neurodevelopment of preterm infants at 18 months in a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 2015, 56(11):1202–1211.
- 6. Arnon S et al. Live music is beneficial to preterm infants in the neonatal intensive care unit environment. *Birth*, 2006, 33(2):131–136.
- 7. Chang HC et al. The effects of music listening on psychosocial stress and maternal-fetal attachment during pregnancy. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, 2015, 23(4):509–515.
- 8. Xie QW et al. Psychosocial effects of parent-child book reading interventions: A meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, 2018, 141(4). (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29588337).
- 9. Alemán X et al. The Effects of Musical Training on Child Development: a Randomized Trial of El Sistema in Venezuela. *Prevention Science*, 2017, 18(7):865–878.
- 10. Cofini V et al. Impact of dance therapy on children with specific learning disability: a two arm cluster randomized control study on Italian sample. *Minerva pediatrica*, 2018. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30299024).
- 11. Fancourt D, Perkins R. The effects of mother–infant singing on emotional closeness, affect, anxiety, and stress hormones. *Music & Science*, 2018, 1:205920431774574.
- 12. Shenfield T, Trehub SE, Nakata T. Maternal Singing Modulates Infant Arousal. *Psychology of Music*, 2003, 31(4):365–375.
- 13. Persico G et al. Maternal singing of lullabies during pregnancy and after birth: Effects on mother—infant bonding and on newborns' behaviour. Concurrent Cohort Study. *Women and Birth*, 2017, 30(4):e214–e220.
- 14. Ettenberger M, Beltrán Ardila YM. Music therapy song writing with mothers of preterm babies in the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (NICU) A mixed-methods pilot study. *Arts in Psychotherapy*, 2018, 58:42–52.
- 15. Fancourt D, Perkins R. Associations between singing to babies and symptoms of postnatal depression, wellbeing, self-esteem and mother-infant bond. *Public Health*, 2017, 145:149–152.
- 16. Shamri Zeevi L, Regev D, Guttmann J. The Efficiency of Art-Based Interventions in Parental Training. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 2018, 9(AUG):1495.
- 17. Haner D et al. The Role of Arts-Based Curricula in Bullying Prevention: Elijah's Kite—A Children's Opera. *Canadian Journal of School Psychology*, 2010, 25(1):55–69.
- 18. Belliveau DrG, Belliveau DrG. An arts-based approach to teach social justice: Drama as a way to address bullying in schools. *JOURNAL OF ARTS EDUCATION*, 2005:136— 165.
- 19. Ho P et al. The impact of group drumming on social-emotional behavior in low-income children. *Evidence-based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2011, 2011.
- 20. Schellenberg EG et al. Group Music Training and Children's Prosocial SkillsSnyder J, ed. PLOS ONE, 2015, 10(10):e0141449.
- 21. Pasiali V, Clark C. Evaluation of a music therapy social skills development program for youth with limited resources. *Journal of Music Therapy*, 2018, 55(3):280–308.
- 22. Welch GF et al. Singing and social inclusion. Frontiers in Psychology, 2014, 5.
- (http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00803/abstract).
- 23. Hashemian P, Mashoogh N, Jarahi L. Effectiveness of Music Therapy on Aggressive Behavior of Visually Impaired Adolescents. *Journal of Behavioral and Brain Science*, 2015, 05(03):96–100.
- 24. Kawase S et al. An Investigation Into the Relationship Between Onset Age of Musical Lessons and Levels of Sociability in Childhood. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 2018, 9(NOV):2244.
- 25. Boer D, Abubakar A. Music listening in families and peer groups: benefits for young people's social cohesion and emotional well-being across four cultures. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 2014, 5.
- (http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00392/abstract).
- 26. Williams KE et al. Associations between early shared music activities in the home and later child outcomes: Findings from the Longitudinal Study of Australian Children. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 2015, 31:113–124.
- 27. Haslbeck FB. The interactive potential of creative music therapy with premature infants and their parents: A qualitative analysis. *Nordic Journal of Music Therapy*, 2014, 23(1):36–70.
- 28. Perkins R, Yorke S, Fancourt D. How group singing facilitates recovery from the symptoms of postnatal depression: a comparative qualitative study. , 2018. (https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-018-0253-0).

- 29. Wright R, Alaggia R, Krygsman A. Five-Year Follow-Up Study of the Qualitative Experiences of Youth in an Afterschool Arts Program in Low-Income Communities. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 2014, 40(2):137–146.
- 30. King G et al. An inclusive arts-mediated program for children with and without disabilities: Establishing community and an environment for child development through the arts. *Children's Health Care*, 2016, 45(2):204–226.
- 31. Demirel IN. Contributions provided by visual arts lesson for students at secondary stage in elementary education. Elsevier, 2011.
- 32. Dodell-Feder D, Tamir DI. Fiction reading has a small positive impact on social cognition: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 2018, 147(11):1713–1727.
- 33. Montgomery P, Maunders K. The effectiveness of creative bibliotherapy for internalizing, externalizing, and prosocial behaviors in children: A systematic review. Elsevier Ltd, 2015.
- 34. Poscia A et al. *Interventions targeting loneliness and social isolation among the older people: An update systematic review*. Elsevier Inc., 2018.
- 35. Greitemeyer T, Schwab A. Employing music exposure to reduce prejudice and discrimination. *Aggressive Behavior*, 2014, 40(6):542–551.
- 36. Kreutz G. Does Singing Facilitate Social Bonding? Music and Medicine, 2014, 6(2):51-60.
- 37. Pearce E, Launay J, Dunbar RIM. The ice-breaker effect: Singing mediates fast social bonding. *Royal Society Open Science*, 2015, 2(10).
- 38. Fancourt D et al. Singing modulates mood, stress, cortisol, cytokine and neuropeptide activity in cancer patients and carers. *Ecancermedicalscience*, 2016, 10(631):1–13.
- 39. Smigelsky MA et al. Performing the peace: Using playback theatre in the strengthening of police–community relations. *Progress in Community Health Partnerships: Research, Education, and Action*, 2016, 10(4):533–539.
- 40. Spiegel JB, Parent SN. Re-approaching community development through the arts: a 'critical mixed methods' study of social circus in Quebec'. *Community Development Journal*, 2017:1–18.
- 41. Van de Vyver J, Abrams D. The Arts as a Catalyst for Human Prosociality and Cooperation. *Social psychological and personality science*, 2018, 9(6):664–674.
- 42. Madsen W. Raising social consciousness through verbatim theatre: a realist evaluation. Arts & Health, 2018, 10(2):181–194.
- 43. Skinner MW et al. Improving social inclusion for people with dementia and carers through sharing dance: A qualitative sequential continuum of care pilot study protocol. *BMJ Open*, 2018, 8(11).
- 44. Murrock CJ, Graor CH. Depression, Social Isolation, and the Lived Experience of Dancing in Disadvantaged Adults. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, 2016, 30(1):27–34.
- 45. Smart E et al. Creating an inclusive leisure space: strategies used to engage children with and without disabilities in the arts-mediated program Spiral Garden. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 2018, 40(2):199–207.
- 46. MaCleod A et al. Connecting Socially Isolated Older Rural Adults with Older Volunteers through Expressive Arts. *Canadian Journal on Aging*, 2016, 35(1):14–27.
- 47. Moody E, Phinney A. A community-engaged art program for older people: Fostering social inclusion. *Canadian Journal on Aging*, 2012, 31(1):55–64.
- 48. Anderson S et al. Translating Knowledge: Promoting Health Through Intergenerational Community Arts. *Health Promot Pract*, 2016, 14:33.
- 49. Clini C, Thomson LJM, Chatterjee HJ. Assessing the impact of artistic and cultural activities on the health and well-being of forcibly displaced people using participatory action research. *BMJ Open*, 2019, 9(2).
- 50. Fanian S et al. Evaluation of the Kóts'iht\la ("we light the fire") project: Building resiliency and connections through strengths-based creative arts programming for indigenous youth. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health*, 2015, 74.
- 51. Coggan C, Saunders C, Grenot D. Art and Safe Communities: the role of Big hART in the regeneration of an inner city housing estate. *Health Promotion Journal of Australia*, 2008, 19(1):4–9.
- 52. Kim J. Effects of community-based group music therapy for children exposed to ongoing child maltreatment & poverty in South Korea: A block randomized controlled trial. *Arts in Psychotherapy*, 2017, 54:69–77.
- 53. Cogo-Moreira H et al. Effectiveness of Music Education for the Improvement of Reading Skills and Academic Achievement in Young Poor Readers: A Pragmatic Cluster-Randomized, Controlled Clinical TrialLaks J, ed. *PLoS ONE*, 2013, 8(3):e59984.
- 54. Brown ED et al. Can the Arts Get Under the Skin? Arts and Cortisol for Economically Disadvantaged Children. *Child Development*, 2017, 88(4):1368–1381.
- 55. Beyers WB, Fowler C, Andreoli D. *The Economic Impact of Music in Seattle and King County A report for the Mayor's Office of Film + Music.*, 2008.
- 56. Bracalente B et al. The economic impact of cultural events: The Umbria Jazz music festival. *Tourism Economics*, 2011, 17(6):1235–1255.
- 57. Tohmo T. Economic Impacts of Cultural Events on Local Economies: An Input—Output Analysis of the Kaustinen Folk Music Festival. *Tourism Economics*, 2005, 11(3):431–451.
- 58. The economic contribution of the core UK music industry summary report., 2013.
- 59. Florida R, Mellander C, Stolarick K. Music Scenes to Music Clusters: The Economic Geography of Music in the US, 1970–2000. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, 2010, 42(4):785–804.

- 60. BOP Consulting. Edinburgh Festivals 2015 Impact Study Final Report., 2016 (www.bop.co.uk).
- 61. Lee I, Arcodia C, Lee TJ. Benefits of visiting a multicultural festival: The case of South Korea. *Tourism Management*, 2012, 33(2):334–340.
- 62. Dingle G a. et al. 'To be heard': The social and mental health benefits of choir singing for disadvantaged adults. *Psychology of Music*, 2012, 41(3):405–421.
- 63. Parker A et al. Marginalised youth, criminal justice and performing arts: young people's experiences of music-making. *Journal of Youth Studies*, 2018, 21(8):1061–1076.
- 64. Bolger L. *Understanding and articulating the process and meaning of collaboration in participatory music projects with marginalised young people and their supporting communities.* [PhD Thesis]. The University of Melbourne, 2013.
- 65. Sarantou M, Akimenko D, Escudeiro N. View of Margin to Margin: Arts-Based Research for Digital Outreach to Marginalised Communities. *The Journal of Community Informatics*, 2018, 14:139–159.
- 66. Skyllstad K. Music in conflict management a multicultural approach. *International Journal of Music Education*, 1997, os-29(1):73–80.
- 67. Skyllstad K. *Creating a Culture of Peace. The Performing Arts in Interethnic Negotiations.*, 2000 (https://www.immi.se/intercultural/nr4/skyllstad.htm, accessed 27 January 2020).
- 68. Trainor LJ et al. Becoming musically enculturated: Effects of music classes for infants on brain and behavior. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 2012, 1252(1):129–138.
- 69. Nan Y et al. Piano training enhances the neural processing of pitch and improves speech perception in Mandarin-speaking children. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 2018, 115(28):E6630–E6639.
- 70. Good A et al. Benefits of Music Training for Perception of Emotional Speech Prosody in Deaf Children With Cochlear Implants. *Ear and Hearing*, 2017, 38(4):455–464.
- 71. Flaugnacco E et al. Music Training Increases Phonological Awareness and Reading Skills in Developmental Dyslexia: A Randomized Control TrialAmitay S, ed. *PLOS ONE*, 2015, 10(9):e0138715.
- 72. Dowdall N et al. *Shared Picture Book Reading Interventions for Child Language Development: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis*. Blackwell Publishing Inc., 2019 (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30737957).
- 73. Brown MI et al. Promoting language and social communication development in babies through an early storybook reading intervention. *International Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 2018, 20(3):337–349.
- 74. Chobert J et al. Twelve months of active musical training in 8-to 10-year-old children enhances the preattentive processing of syllabic duration and voice onset time. *Cerebral Cortex*, 2014, 24(4):956–967.
- 75. Moreno S et al. Musical training influences linguistic abilities in 8-year-old children: More evidence for brain plasticity. *Cerebral Cortex*, 2009, 19(3):712–723.
- 76. Yang H et al. A longitudinal study on children's music training experience and academic development. *Scientific Reports*, 2014, 4(1):1–7.
- 77. Linnavalli T et al. Music playschool enhances children's linguistic skills. Scientific Reports, 2018, 8(1):1–10.
- 78. Habibi A et al. Music training and child development: a review of recent findings from a longitudinal study. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 2018, 1423(1):73–81.
- 79. Groussard M et al. The effects of musical practice on structural plasticity: The dynamics of grey matter changes. *Brain and Cognition*, 2014, 90:174–180.
- 80. Huotilainen M, Tervaniemi M. *Planning music-based amelioration and training in infancy and childhood based on neural evidence*. Blackwell Publishing Inc., 2018 (, No. 1; http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29727038).
- 81. Habib M et al. Music and dyslexia: A new musical training method to improve reading and related disorders. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 2016, 7(JAN):26.
- 82. Mendelson J et al. A Preliminary Investigation of a Specialized Music Therapy Model for Children with Disabilities Delivered in a Classroom Setting. *Autism Research and Treatment*, 2016, 2016:1–8.
- 83. Chou MY et al. The effectiveness of music therapy for individuals with Rett syndrome and their families. *Journal of the Formosan Medical Association*, 2019, 118(12):1633–1643.
- 84. Rochette F, Moussard A, Bigand E. Music lessons improve auditory perceptual and cognitive performance in deaf children. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 2014, 8(JULY).
- 85. Pitt J, Arculs C, Fox S. Saltmusic Speech and language therapy and music practice: Emerging findings from action research. Cambridge, 2017 (https://www.researchgate.net/publication/318726198 Saltmusic -
- _Speech_and_language_therapy_and_music_practice_Emerging_findings_from_action_research/related).
- 86. Perry MMR. Relating Improvisational Music Therapy with Severely and Multiply Disabled Children to Communication Development. *Journal of Music Therapy*, 2003, 40(3):227–246.
- 87. Deboys R, Holttum S, Wright K. Processes of change in school-based art therapy with children: A systematic qualitative study. *International Journal of Art Therapy*, 2017, 22(3):118–131.
- 88. Gordon RL, Fehd HM, McCandliss BD. Does music training enhance literacy skills? A meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 2015, 6(DEC):1777.
- 89. Sala G, Gobet F. Cognitive and academic benefits of music training with children: A multilevel meta-analysis (preprint). *PsyArXiv Preprints*, 2020.

- 90. Mehr SA et al. Two Randomized Trials Provide No Consistent Evidence for Nonmusical Cognitive Benefits of Brief Preschool Music EnrichmentPavlova M, ed. *PLoS ONE*, 2013, 8(12):e82007.
- 91. Jaschke AC et al. Music education and its effect on intellectual abilities in children: A systematic review. *Reviews in the Neurosciences*, 2013, 24(6):665–675.
- 92. Kulinna PH et al. The Effect of an Authentic Acute Physical Education Session of Dance on Elementary Students' Selective Attention. *BioMed Research International*, 2018, 2018.
- 93. Golding A, Boes C, Nordin-Bates SM. Investigating learning through developmental dance movement as a kinaesthetic tool in the Early Years Foundation Stage. *Research in Dance Education*, 2016, 17(3):235–267.
- 94. Higueras-Fresnillo S et al. Dance participation and academic performance in youth girls. *Nutricion hospitalaria*, 2016, 33(3):288.
- 95. Polinsky N et al. Encouraging Spatial Talk: Using Children's Museums to Bolster Spatial Reasoning. *Mind, Brain, and Education,* 2017, 11(3):144–152.
- 96. Tsethlikai M. An Exploratory Analysis of American Indian Children's Cultural Engagement, Fluid Cognitive Skills, and Standardized Verbal IQ Scores. *Developmental Psychology*, 2011, 47(1):192–202.
- 97. Heyning L. The enhancement of musical and other learning for both teachers and students through a weekly choir session. *Australian Journal of Music Education*, 2010, 1. (https://epubs.scu.edu.au/educ_pubs/1070).
- 98. Burnard P. A phenomenological study of music teachers' approaches to inclusive education practices among disaffected youth. *Research Studies in Music Education*, 2008, 30(1):59–75.
- 99. Trent A. Re-Placing the Arts in Elementary School Curricula: An Interdisciplinary, Collaborative Action Research Project. *Perspectives on Urban Education*, 2009:14–27.
- 100. Gold C, Voracek M, Wigram T. *Effects of music therapy for children and adolescents with psychopathology: A meta-analysis.*, 2004 (, No. 6; http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15257662).
- 101. Mansfield L et al. Sport and dance interventions for healthy young people (15-24 years) to promote subjective well-being: A systematic review. *BMJ Open*, 2018, 8(7).
- 102. Porter S et al. Music therapy for children and adolescents with behavioural and emotional problems: a randomised controlled trial. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 2017, 58(5):586–594.
- 103. Hides L et al. Efficacy and Outcomes of a Music-Based Emotion Regulation Mobile App in Distressed Young People: Randomized Controlled Trial. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 2019, 7(1):e11482.
- 104. Adushkina KV. Development of emotional intelligence of adolescents in institutions of additional education by means of music therapy. *Pedagog Education Russia* (Педагогическое образование в России), 2015, (9):82–86.
- 105. Zyga O et al. A preliminary investigation of a school-based musical theater intervention program for children with intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities*, 2018, 22(3):262–278.
- 106. Dingle GA, Hodges J, Kunde A. Tuned In Emotion Regulation Program Using Music Listening: Effectiveness for Adolescents in Educational Settings. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 2016, 7(JUN):859.
- 107. Edwards BM et al. Performance and visual arts-based programs for children with disabilities: a scoping review focusing on psychosocial outcomes. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 2018:1–12.
- 108. Zarobe L, Bungay H. *The role of arts activities in developing resilience and mental wellbeing in children and young people a rapid review of the literature*. SAGE Publications Ltd, 2017 (, No. 6).
- 109. Fancourt D, Steptoe A. Effects of creativity on social and behavioral adjustment in 7- to 11-year-old children. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 2019, 1438(1):30–39.
- 110. Cobbett S. Reaching the hard to reach: quantitative and qualitative evaluation of school-based arts therapies with young people with social, emotional and behavioural difficulties. *Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties*, 2016, 21(4):1–13.
- 111. Barnes J. *Drama to promote social and personal well-being in six- and seven-year-olds with communication difficulties: The Speech Bubbles project*. SAGE Publications Ltd, 2014 (, No. 2; http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23300231).
- 112. Grogan S et al. Dance and body image: Young people's experiences of a dance movement psychotherapy session. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 2014, 6(2):261–277.
- 113. Daykin N et al. What works for wellbeing? A systematic review of wellbeing outcomes for music and singing in adults. *Perspectives in public health*, 2018, 138(1):39–46.
- 114. Bradt J et al. Music interventions for improving psychological and physical outcomes in cancer patients. In: Bradt J, ed. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. Chichester, UK, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2016. (http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/14651858.CD006911.pub3).
- 115. van der Steen JT et al. *Music-based therapeutic interventions for people with dementia*. John Wiley and Sons Ltd, 2018 (, No. 7).
- 116. Deshmukh SR, Holmes J, Cardno A. Art therapy for people with dementia., 2018, 2018.
- 117. Coulton S et al. Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of community singing on mental health-related quality of life of older people: Randomised controlled trial. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 2015, 207(3):250–255.
- 118. Ploukou S, Panagopoulou E. Playing music improves well-being of oncology nurses. *Applied Nursing Research*, 2018, 39:77–80.

- 119. Bräuninger I. Dance movement therapy group intervention in stress treatment: A randomized controlled trial (RCT). *Arts in Psychotherapy*, 2012, 39(5):443–450.
- 120. Bräuninger I. The efficacy of dance movement therapy group on improvement of quality of life: A randomized controlled trial. *Arts in Psychotherapy*, 2012, 39(4):296–303.
- 121. Poulos RG et al. Arts on prescription for community-dwelling older people with a range of health and wellness needs. *Health and Social Care in the Community*, 2019, 27(2):483–492.
- 122. Jones M et al. The Role of Community Centre-based Arts, Leisure and Social Activities in Promoting Adult Well-being and Healthy Lifestyles. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 2013, 10(5):1948–1962.
- 123. Grossi E, Tavano Blessi G, Sacco PL. Magic Moments: Determinants of Stress Relief and Subjective Wellbeing from Visiting a Cultural Heritage Site. *Culture, Medicine and Psychiatry*, 2019, 43(1):4–24.
- 124. Thomson LJ et al. *Effects of a museum-based social prescription intervention on quantitative measures of psychological wellbeing in older adults*. SAGE Publications Ltd, 2018 (, No. 1).
- 125. Hallam S, Creech A. Can active music making promote health and well-being in older citizens? Findings of the music for life project. *London Journal of Primary Care*, 2016, 8(2):21–25.
- 126. McGrath R, Stevens K. Forecasting the Social Return on Investment Associated with Children's Participation in Circus-Arts Training on their Mental Health and Well-Being. *International Journal of the Sociology of Leisure*, 2019, 2(1–2):163–193.
- 127. Muro A, Artero N. Dance practice and well-being correlates in young women. Women and Health, 2017, 57(10):1193–1203.
- 128. Tuisku K, Pulkki-R\aaback L, Virtanen M. Cultural events provided by employer and occupational wellbeing of employees: A cross-sectional study among hospital nurses. *Work*, 2016, 55(1):93–100.
- 129. Kaimal G, Gonzaga AML, Schwachter V. Crafting, health and wellbeing: findings from the survey of public participation in the arts and considerations for art therapists. *Arts & Health*, 2017, 9(1):81–90.
- 130. Papinczak ZE et al. Young people's uses of music for well-being. Journal of Youth Studies, 2015, 18(9):1119–1134.
- 131. Milligan C et al. *Older men and social activity: A scoping review of Men's Sheds and other gendered interventions*. Cambridge University Press, 2016 (, No. 5).
- 132. Fancourt D, Steptoe A. Community group membership and multidimensional subjective well-being in older age. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 2018, 72(5):376–382.
- 133. Cuypers K et al. Patterns of receptive and creative cultural activities and their association with perceived health, anxiety, depression and satisfaction with life among adults: The HUNT study, Norway. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 2012, 66(8):698–703.
- 134. Fancourt D et al. Group singing in bereavement: Effects on mental health, self-efficacy, self-esteem and well-being. *BMJ Supportive and Palliative Care*, 2019:1–9.
- 135. Fancourt D, Tymoszuk U. Cultural engagement and incident depression in older adults: Evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 2019, 214(4):225–229.
- 136. Stevens K, McGrath R, Ward E. Identifying the influence of leisure-based social circus on the health and well-being of young people in Australia. *Annals of Leisure Research*, 2019, 22(3):305–322.
- 137. Culph JS et al. Men's Sheds and the experience of depression in older Australian men. *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, 2015, 62(5):306–315.
- 138. Franklin M. Art Therapy and Self-Esteem. (https://www.tandfonline.com/action/journalInformation?journalCode=uart20).
- 139. Ascenso S et al. Promoting well-being through group drumming with mental health service users and their carers. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-being*, 2018, 13(1).
- 140. Brownett T. Social capital and participation: The role of community arts festivals for generating well-being. *Journal of Applied Arts & Health*, 2018, 9(1):71–84.
- 141. Kim SJ, Yoo GE. *Instrument playing as a cognitive intervention task for older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis.* Frontiers Media S.A., 2019 (, No. FEB).
- 142. Teixeira-Machado L, Arida RM, de Jesus Mari J. Dance for neuroplasticity: A descriptive systematic review. Elsevier Ltd, 2019.
- 143. Marquez DX et al. Regular Latin dancing and health education may improve cognition of late middle-Aged and older Latinos. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 2017, 25(3):482–489.
- 144. Merom D et al. Cognitive benefits of social dancing and walking in old age: The dancing mind randomized controlled trial. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 2016, 8(FEB).
- 145. Degé F, Kerkovius K. The effects of drumming on working memory in older adults. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 2018, 1423(1):242–250.
- 146. Noice H, Noice T. An arts intervention for older adults living in subsidized retirement homes. *Aging, Neuropsychology, and Cognition*, 2008, 16(1):56–79.
- 147. Mahendran R et al. Art therapy is associated with sustained improvement in cognitive function in the elderly with mild neurocognitive disorder: Findings from a pilot randomized controlled trial for art therapy and music reminiscence activity versus usual care. *Trials*, 2018, 19(1).
- 148. Zhao J et al. Effects of creative expression therapy for older adults with mild cognitive impairment at risk of alzheimer's disease: A randomized controlled clinical trial. *Clinical Interventions in Aging*, 2018, 13:1313–1320.

- 149. Lazarou I et al. International Ballroom Dancing Against Neurodegeneration: A Randomized Controlled Trial in Greek Community-Dwelling Elders With Mild Cognitive impairment. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease and other Dementias*, 2017, 32(8):489–499.
- 150. Särkämö T et al. Cognitive, Emotional, and Social Benefits of Regular Musical Activities in Early Dementia: Randomized Controlled Study PubMed. *The Gerontologist*, 2014, (54):634–650.
- 151. Strong JV, Mast BT. The cognitive functioning of older adult instrumental musicians and non-musicians. *Aging, Neuropsychology, and Cognition*, 2019, 26(3):367–386.
- 152. Gooding LF et al. Musical training and late-life cognition. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease and other Dementias*, 2014, 29(4):333–343.
- 153. Moussard A et al. Life-long music practice and executive control in older adults: An event-related potential study. *Brain Research*, 2016, 1642:146–153.
- 154. Schneider CE, Hunter EG, Bardach SH. Potential Cognitive Benefits From Playing Music Among Cognitively Intact Older Adults: A Scoping Review. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 2019, 38(12):1763–1783.
- 155. Alain C et al. Music and Visual Art Training Modulate Brain Activity in Older Adults. Frontiers in Neuroscience, 2019, 13.
- 156. Noice H, Noice T, Staines G. A short-term intervention to enhance cognitive and affective functioning in older adults. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 2004, 16(4):562–585.
- 157. Porat S et al. Dance Experience and Associations with Cortical Gray Matter Thickness in the Aging Population. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders Extra*, 2016, 6(3):508–517.
- 158. Fancourt D, Steptoe A, Cadar D. Cultural engagement and cognitive reserve: Museum attendance and dementia incidence over a 10-year period. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 2018, 213(5):661–663.
- 159. Fancourt D, Steptoe A, Cadar D. Community engagement and dementia risk: time-to-event analyses from a national cohort study. *J Epidemiol Community Health*, 2019:jech–2019.
- 160. Fancourt D, Steptoe A. Cultural engagement predicts changes in cognitive function in older adults over a 10 year period: Findings from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *Scientific Reports*, 2018, 8(1):1–8.
- 161. Balbag MA, Pedersen NL, Gatz M. Playing a musical instrument as a protective factor against dementia and cognitive impairment: A population-based twin study. *International Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 2014, 2014.
- 162. Billington J et al. A literature-based intervention for older people living with dementia. *Perspectives in public health*, 2013, 133(3):165–73.
- 163. Phillips LJ, Reid-Arndt SA, Pak Y. Effects of a creative expression intervention on emotions, communication, and quality of life in persons with dementia. *Nursing Research*, 2010, 59(6):417–425.
- 164. Sherratt K, Thornton A, Hatton C. Emotional and behavioural responses to music in people with dementia: an observational study. *Aging & Mental Health*, 2004, 8(3):233–241.
- 165. Davidson JW, Fedele J. Investigating group singing activity with people with dementia and their caregivers: Problems and positive prospects. *Musicae Scientiae*, 2011, 15(3):402–422.
- 166. van der Vleuten M, Visser A, Meeuwesen L. The contribution of intimate live music performances to the quality of life for persons with dementia. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 2012, 89(3):484–488.
- 167. Rentz CA. Memories in the Making: Outcome-based evaluation of an art program for individuals with dementing illnesses. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease and other Dementias*, 2002, 17(3):175–181.
- 168. Kinney JM, Rentz CA. Observed well-being among individuals with dementia: Memories in the Making, an art program, versus other structured activity. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease and other Dementias*, 2005, 20(4):220–227.
- 169. Eekelaar C, Camic PM, Springham N. Art galleries, episodic memory and verbal fluency in dementia: An exploratory study. *Psychology of Aesthetics, Creativity, and the Arts*, 2012, 6(3):262–272.
- 170. Ullán AM et al. Contributions of an artistic educational program for older people with early dementia: An exploratory qualitative study. *Dementia*, 2013, 12(4):425–446.
- 171. Stevens J. Stand up for dementia: Performance, improvisation and stand up comedy as therapy for people with dementia; a qualitative study. *Dementia*, 2012, 11(1):61–73.
- 172. Ghai S, Ghai I, Effenberg AO. Effect of rhythmic auditory cueing on aging gait: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Aging and Disease*, 2018, 9(5):901–923.
- 173. Fernández-Argüelles EL et al. *Effects of dancing on the risk of falling related factors of healthy older adults: A systematic review*. Elsevier Ireland Ltd, 2015 (, No. 1).
- 174. Veronese N et al. Dance movement therapy and falls prevention. Elsevier Ireland Ltd, 2017.
- 175. Liu J-Y, Xiang J-J, Wei X-L, Hu C-F, Wu C-L, Zhang M-Y. Effects of Square Dance on Bone Mineral Density, Estrogen and Balance Ability of Postmenopausal Women. *China Sport Science and Technology*, 2014. (http://en.cnki.com.cn/Article_en/CJFDTotal-ZGTY201402013.htm, accessed 19 February 2020).
- 176. Noopud P et al. Effects of Thai traditional dance on balance performance in daily life among older women. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research*, 2019, 31(7):961–967.
- 177. Panteleeva Y et al. Music for anxiety? Meta-analysis of anxiety reduction in non-clinical samples. *Psychology of Music*, 2018, 46(4):473–487.

- 178. Martin L et al. *Creative arts interventions for stress management and prevention-a systematic review*. MDPI Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, 2018 (, No. 2).
- 179. Vlachopoulos C et al. Music decreases aortic stiffness and wave reflections. Atherosclerosis, 2015, 240(1):184–189.
- 180. Federici A, Bellagamba S, Rocchi MBL. Does dance-based training improve balance in adult and young old subjects? A pilot randomized controlled trial. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research*, 2005, 17(5):385–389.
- 181. Stamou V et al. The therapeutic contribution of music in music-assisted systematic desensitization for substance addiction treatment: A pilot study. *Arts in Psychotherapy*, 2017, 56:30–44.
- 182. Kirsch LP et al. Dance Training Shapes Action Perception and Its Neural Implementation within the Young and Older Adult Brain. *Neural Plasticity*, 2018, 2018.
- 183. Filar-Mierzwa K et al. The effect of dance therapy on the balance of women over 60 years of age: The influence of dance therapy for the elderly. *Journal of Women and Aging*, 2017, 29(4):348–355.
- 184. Alpert PT et al. The effect of modified jazz dance on balance, cognition, and mood in older adults. *Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners*, 2009, 21(2):108–115.
- 185. Jeon MY et al. The effects of a Korean traditional dance movement program in elderly women. *Taehan Kanho Hakhoe chi*, 2005, 35(7):1268–1276.
- 186. Hackney ME et al. Dancing for balance: Feasibility and efficacy in oldest-old adults with visual impairment. *Nursing Research*, 2013, 62(2):138–143.
- 187. Ferrufino L et al. Practice of contemporary dance promotes stochastic postural control in aging. *Frontiers in human neuroscience*, 2011, 5:169.
- 188. Coste A et al. Standing or swaying to the beat: Discrete auditory rhythms entrain stance and promote postural coordination stability. *Gait and Posture*, 2018, 59:28–34.
- 189. Kudlacek S et al. The impact of a senior dancing program on spinal and peripheral bone mass. *American Journal of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 1997, 76(6):477–481.
- 190. Gallo LH et al. Effects of virtual dance exercise on skeletal muscle architecture and function of community dwelling older women. *Journal of Musculoskeletal Neuronal Interactions*, 2019, 19(1):50–61.
- 191. Britten L, Addington C, Astill S. Dancing in time: Feasibility and acceptability of a contemporary dance programme to modify risk factors for falling in community dwelling older adults. *BMC Geriatrics*, 2017, 17(1).
- 192. Moreno-Gómez FN et al. Music training and education slow the deterioration of music perception produced by presbycusis in the elderly. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 2017, 9(MAY).
- 193. Cohen GD et al. The Impact of Professionally Conducted Cultural Programs on the Physical Health, Mental Health, and Social Functioning of Older Adults. *The Gerontologist*, 2006, 46(6):726–734.
- 194. Rogers NT, Fancourt D. Cultural Engagement Is a Risk-Reducing Factor for Frailty Incidence and Progression. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 2019, 75(3).
- 195. Fancourt D, Steptoe A. Physical and Psychosocial Factors in the Prevention of Chronic Pain in Older Age. *Journal of Pain*, 2018, 19(12):1385–1391.
- 196. Chabot J et al. Decreased risk of falls in patients attending music sessions on an acute geriatric ward: results from a retrospective cohort study. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2019, 19(1):76.
- 197. Konlaan BB, Bygren LO, Johansson SE. Visiting the cinema, concerts, museums or art exhibitions as determinant of survival: A Swedish fourteen-year cohort follow-up. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 2000, 28(3):174–178.
- 198. Bygren LO, Konlaan BB, Johansson SE. Attendance at cultural events, reading books or periodicals, and making music or singing in a choir as determinants for survival: Swedish interview survey of living conditions. *British Medical Journal*, 1996, 313(7072):1577–1580.
- 199. Lennartsson C, Silverstein M. Does Engagement With Life Enhance Survival of Elderly People in Sweden? The Role of Social and Leisure Activities. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 2001, 56(6):S335–S342. 200. Väänänen A et al. Engagement in cultural activities and cause-specific mortality: Prospective cohort study. *Preventive Medicine*, 2009, 49(2–3):142–147.
- 201. Hyyppä MT et al. Individual-level measures of social capital as predictors of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality: A population-based prospective study of men and women in Finland. *European Journal of Epidemiology*, 2007, 22(9):589–597. 202. Hyyppä MT et al. Leisure participation predicts survival: a population-based study in Finland. *Health Promotion International*, 2006, 21(1):5–12.
- 203. Fancourt D, Steptoe A. The art of life and death: 14 year follow-up analyses of associations between arts engagement and mortality in the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *BMJ*, 2019, 367. (https://www.bmj.com/content/367/bmj.l6377, accessed 4 February 2020).
- 204. Sundquist K et al. Social participation and coronary heart disease: A follow-up study of 6900 women and men in Sweden. *Social Science and Medicine*, 2004, 58(3):615–622.
- 205. Merom D, Ding D, Stamatakis E. Dancing Participation and Cardiovascular Disease Mortality: A Pooled Analysis of 11 Population-Based British Cohorts. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 2016, 50(6):756–760.
- 206. Lajunen HR et al. Leisure activity patterns and their associations with overweight: A prospective study among adolescents. *Journal of Adolescence*, 2009, 32(5):1089–1103.

- 207. Mak HW, Fancourt D. Reading for pleasure in childhood and adolescent healthy behaviours: Longitudinal associations using the Millennium Cohort Study. *Preventive Medicine*, 2020, 130:105889.
- 208. Wu E et al. Preventing Loss of Independence through Exercise (PLIÉ): Qualitative analysis of a clinical trial in older adults with dementia. *Aging and Mental Health*, 2015, 19(4):353–362.
- 209. NHS. The NHS long term plan., 2019. (https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/).
- 210. Potter S. Arts on Prescription 2010-12 Research Report., 2013:80.
- 211. Phillips G et al. The Well London program a cluster randomized trial of community engagement for improving health behaviors and mental wellbeing: baseline survey results. *Trials*, 2012, 13(1):105.
- 212. Greaves CJ, Farbus L. Effects of creative and social activity on the health and well-being of socially isolated older people: outcomes from a multi-method observational study. *Journal of the Royal Society for the Promotion of Health*, 2006, 126(3):134–142.
- 213. Woodall J et al. Understanding the effectiveness and mechanisms of a social prescribing service: a mixed method analysis. *BMC Health Services Research*, 2018, 18(1):604.
- 214. Kimberlee DRH. Measuring economic impact. :111.
- 215. Kimberlee R. What is the value of social prescribing? Advances in Social Sciences Research Journal, 2016, 3(3).
- (http://scholarpublishing.org/index.php/ASSRJ/article/view/1889, accessed 3 February 2020).
- 216. Hacking S et al. Evaluating the impact of participatory art projects for people with mental health needs. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 2008, 16(6):638–648.
- 217. Potter S. Arts on Prescription 2014-15 Evaluation Report., 2015:62.
- 218. Kellezi B et al. The social cure of social prescribing: a mixed-methods study on the benefits of social connectedness on quality and effectiveness of care provision. *BMJ Open*, 2019, 9(11):e033137.
- 219. Secker J et al. Empowerment and arts participation for people with mental health needs. Journal of Public Mental Health,
- 2007. (https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/17465729200700024/full/html, accessed 6 February 2020).
- 220. Dayson C. Evaluation of HALE Community Connectors Social Prescribing Service 2018-19.:24.
- 221. Dayson C, Bennett E. Evaluation of Doncaster Social Prescribing Service: understanding outcomes and impact. Project Report. Sheffield, Sheffield Hallam University., 2016.
- 222. N Bashir, C Dayson. The social and economic impact of the Rotherham Social Prescribing Pilot: Main Evaluation Report. Sheffield: CRESR, Sheffield Hallam University. , 2014.
- 223. Longwill A. Independent Evaluation of Hackney Well Family Service, Family Action., 2014.
- 224. Bertotti M et al. The Social Prescribing service in the London Borough of Waltham Forest final evaluation report. , 2017. (http://rgdoi.net/10.13140/RG.2.2.21246.48964, accessed 27 November 2019).
- 225. Friedli L, Themessl-Huber M, Butchart M. Evaluation of Dundee equally well sources of support: social prescribing in Maryfield. Evaluation Report Four., 2012.
- 226. Stickley T, Hui A. Social prescribing through arts on prescription in a UK city: Participants' perspectives (Part 1). *Public Health*, 2012, 126(7):574–579.
- 227. Makin S, Gask L. 'Getting back to normal': the added value of an art-based programme in promoting 'recovery' for common but chronic mental health problems. *Chronic Illness*, 2012, 8(1):64–75.
- 228. Huxley P. Arts on prescription. Stockport: Stockport NHS Trust., 1997.
- 229. Moffatt S et al. Link Worker social prescribing to improve health and well-being for people with long-term conditions: qualitative study of service user perceptions. *BMJ Open*, 2017, 7(7):e015203.
- 230. Wildman JM et al. Service-users' perspectives of link worker social prescribing: a qualitative follow-up study. *BMC Public Health*, 2019, 19(1):98.
- 231. Skivington K et al. Delivering a primary care-based social prescribing initiative: a qualitative study of the benefits and challenges. *British Journal of General Practice*, 2018, 68(672):e487–e494.
- 232. Grant C. A randomised controlled trial and economic evaluation of a referrals facilitator between primary care and the voluntary sector. *BMJ*, 2000, 320(7232):419–423.
- 233. Grayer J et al. Facilitating access to voluntary and community services for patients with psychosocial problems: a before-after evaluation. *BMC Family Practice*, 2008, 9:27.
- 234. Crone DM et al. 'Art Lift' intervention to improve mental well-being: An observational study from UK general practice. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 2013, 22(3):279–286.
- 235. White M, Salamon E. An interim evaluation of the 'Arts For Well-being' social prescribing scheme in County Durham. :60.
- 236. Munford LA et al. Associations of participation in community assets with health-related quality of life and healthcare usage: a cross-sectional study of older people in the community. *BMJ Open*, 2017, 7(2):e012374.
- 237. Kimberlee DRH. Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group Social Prescribing Service: Evaluation Report. :54.
- 238. Health Dialogues Ltd. Evaluation of the East Merton Social Prescribing Pilot., 2018.
- 239. Chrysalis research. Richmond Social Prescribing Pilot Evaluation: Final Report. , 2018.
- (http://www.richmondccg.nhs.uk/?smd process download=1&download id=15867).
- 240. Lynch M, Jones C. Social prescribing for frequent attenders: findings from an innovative pilot intervention. *The Lancet*, 2019, 394:S69.

- 241. Bertotti, M., Frostick, C., Findlay, G. Harden, A., Netuveli, G., Renton, A., Carnes, D., Sohanpal, R. Hull, S and Hutt, P. SHINE final report Social Prescribing: integrating GP and Community Assets for Health, Health Foundation., 2015.
- 242. Vogelpoel N, Jarrold K. Social prescription and the role of participatory arts programmes for older people with sensory impairments. *Journal of Integrated Care*, 2014, 22(2):39–50.
- 243. Brandling J, House W. Social prescribing in general practice: adding meaning to medicine. *British Journal of General Practice*, 2009, 59(563):454–456.
- 244. Eades G, Ager J. Time Being: difficulties in integrating arts in health. *The journal of the Royal Society for the Promotion of Health*, 2008, 128:62–7.
- 245. Grayer J et al. Facilitating access to voluntary and community services for patients with psychosocial problems: a before-after evaluation. *BMC Family Practice*, 2008, 9(1). (http://bmcfampract.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1471-2296-9-27, accessed 5 November 2019).
- 246. Moffatt S et al. Link Worker social prescribing to improve health and well-being for people with long-term conditions: qualitative study of service user perceptions. *BMJ Open*, 2017, 7(7):e015203.
- 247. Farenden C et al. Community Navigation in Brighton & Hove Evaluation of a social prescribing pilot. :68.
- 248. Maughan DL et al. Primary-care-based social prescribing for mental health: an analysis of financial and environmental sustainability. *Primary Health Care Research & Development*, 2016, 17(02):114–121.
- 249. Knapp M. Building Community Capacity: Making an Economic Case, LSE. (https://www.pssru.ac.uk/pub/dp2772.pdf).